73703-1

NO. 73703-1-I

v. Division I	IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF DIVISION ONE	WASHINGTON
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY The Honorable Roger Rogoff, Judge	Respondent, v. DERRICK KOLANOWSKI,	Apr 21, 2016 Court of Appeals
BRIEF OF APPELLANT	STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING CO	DUNTY
	BRIEF OF APPELLANT	

MARY T. SWIFT Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Appellant was denied effective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to authenticate extrinsic impeachment evidence.
- 2. Appellant was denied effective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to move to exclude or object to inadmissible DNA "match" testimony by a State's expert.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Was appellant denied effective assistance of counsel where his attorney inexplicably failed to secure a witness to authenticate extrinsic evidence intended to impeach the complaining witness?
- 2. Was appellant denied effective assistance of counsel where his attorney failed to move to exclude or object to inadmissible testimony by a State's expert that blood found on appellant's sweatshirt "matched" his DNA, without providing the requisite probability estimate that the same DNA profile would appear in the United States population?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 13, 2014, the State charged Derrick Kolanowski with one count of second degree rape. CP 1. The State alleged that on February 8, 2014, Kolanowski engaged in sexual intercourse with S.W.-H. by forcible compulsion. CP 1. On May 4, 2015, the State amended the information to

add the charge of unlawful imprisonment, alleging Kolanowski knowingly restricted S.W.-H.'s movements without her consent. CP 19.

1. State's Case

S.W.-H. lives with Timothy Powell in a fifth wheel trailer in the Paradise Mobile Home Park in Kent, Washington. RP 169-73. They do not have a romantic relationship. RP 173. Powell knew Kolanowski because Powell did contract work for Kolanowski's employer and they frequented the same nearby bar, the Blinker Tavern. RP 174-76, 590-91. S.W.-H. did not know Kolanowski. RP 760. S.W.-H.'s nickname is Shorty. RP 195.

Powell testified that on the evening of February 7, 2014, he saw Kolanowski at the Blinker Tavern. RP 176-78. Powell recalled Kolanowski wanted to buy some marijuana. RP 177-78. Powell told Kolanowski he had some, but not with him, and told Kolanowski to call him later that night. RP 177-78. Powell testified Kolanowski was wearing his glasses, a green army fatigue jacket, and camouflage pants. RP 196-99. Powell said Kolanowski was wearing a blue checkered flannel shirt later in the evening. RP 196, 210-11. Powell remembered Kolanowski was drinking Fireball cinnamon whiskey that night. RP 199.

Kolanowski's neighbor Shane Mills also saw Kolanowski at the Blinker Tavern on February 7. RP 871-72. He recalled Kolanowski was wearing a "greenish" jacket. RP 886. Mills gave Kolanowski a ride home

around 10:30 p.m. and then had a beer at Kolanowski's home until 11:30 p.m. RP 875-76.

Powell did not return home that night, instead staying in Tacoma with his ex-wife. RP 177-78. He testified Kolanowski called him later in the evening when he was not home, so he told Kolanowski to get the marijuana from his roommate, S.W.-H. RP 178. Powell said he received a call from S.W.-H. around 11:30 p.m. that a man was at their trailer door. RP 178-79. S.W.-H. described the man to Powell, who claimed he told her, "That's Derrick. Go ahead and let him in and give him some weed -- and let him go." RP 179.

S.W.-H.'s friend Patrick Barnacascel briefly stopped by S.W.-H.'s trailer around 10:30 or 11:00 p.m. on February 7. RP 385. Barnacascel said nothing stood out about the trailer and S.W.-H. did not have any injuries. RP 389-89. S.W.-H. explained that about 20 or 30 minutes after Barnacascel left, Powell called her to say "Derrick was coming over to get some weed." RP 763-64. S.W.-H. said the man arrived around 10:30 or 11:00 p.m. and came inside. RP 764-65. The man did not identify himself and S.W.-H. had never met him before, but she "believe[d] he said his name was Dale." RP 766, 772.

S.W.-H. said she gave the man marijuana "and then he was supposed to leave and he didn't leave." RP 765. She testified he sat at the kitchen

table while he rolled and smoked a joint. RP 768-69. The man then offered S.W.-H. money in exchange for sex, which she testified she declined. RP 769. S.W.-H. said that for approximately an hour, the man kept asking her to have sex with him and she kept asking him to leave. RP 770-71.

S.W.-H. testified the man finally got up to leave and said he did not know how to open the trailer door. RP 772. S.W.-H. walked to the door to let him out and "that's when he put me in a chokehold." RP 772. S.W.-H. fought back and the man pushed her to the floor, repeatedly punching her in the face. RP 774-75. She testified she screamed, kicked the man in the groin, and scratched his face. RP 775-76. S.W.-H. said the man put his hands around her neck, choked her, and told her to shut up. RP 776-79. S.W.-H. testified she eventually stopped screaming because she was scared and did not want to get hit anymore. RP 778-79. S.W.-H. said they broke a full length mirror during this struggle. RP 778.

S.W.-H. testified the man then ripped off her clothes and forced her to perform oral sex on him. RP 779-80. S.W.-H. said the man tried to put his penis in her vagina and anus, penetrating "[a] little bit, but not very far," because he was not erect. RP 781-83. S.W.-H. said the man repeated this several times: having her perform oral sex and then attempting to penetrate her vagina and anus with his penis. RP 781-84. S.W.-H. did not believe the man ever obtained an erection. RP 781. S.W.-H. said that while this was

going on, the man "kept trying to get me to remember his name was Dale." RP 782. S.W.-H. claimed the man held her down the entire time, so she did not have access to her phone and could not get to the door. RP 807-09.

S.W.-H. testified that around 8:00 a.m., the man said, "I have got to go . . . It's not working," and left. RP 786-87. S.W.-H. threw her clothes in the bathtub. RP 789. She then called Barnacascel and his significant other, Lisa Morgan. RP 792-94. S.W.-H. said Barnacascel answered the phone right away, but Barnacascel testified they received a dozen or more unanswered calls from S.W.-H. RP 392-93, 792. When Barnacascel finally answered, S.W.-H. "sounded kind of odd," so he asked her what was wrong and "she started crying and said she had been raped." RP 394.

Barnacascel went with their dog to S.W.-H.'s trailer to make sure the man had left, and did not find anyone. RP 396-97. Morgan arrived shortly after and went inside the trailer. RP 399. Both Barnacascel and Morgan testified S.W.-H. was upset and her face bruised. RP 400-01, 554-55. The inside of the trailer was in disarray. RP 400-01, 562-63. Morgan testified she straightened up a bit and cleaned up glass from a broken mirror. 5RP 562-63. Morgan said S.W.-H. did not want to talk about what happened and refused to call the police. RP 554-56.

Morgan called Powell, who returned from Tacoma around 11:00 or 11:30 a.m. RP 182, 570-71. Powell testified S.W.-H. was "all beat up" and

her clothes "all bloody." RP 183-84. Powell then changed his story and said S.W.-H. "was actually out of her bloody clothes already." RP 222. Powell also claimed the trailer was a mess when he returned home, but later told the defense investigator the trailer was already picked up. RP 187-90, 224. Powell testified S.W.-H. said the man's name was Dale, but Powell told her his name was Derrick, even though he never saw the man. RP 223.

After several hours, S.W.-H. agreed to go to the hospital with Morgan. RP 558, 796-96. Morgan testified that on the way, S.W.-H. said she was beat up, raped, and held hostage all night long. RP 560. Morgan claimed S.W.-H. never told her who did it. RP 561. Morgan also denied telling Barnacascel who did it. RP 572. But Barnacascel testified Morgan told him "it was some friend of Tim's." RP 411. He then elaborated, explaining Morgan told him someone with a name that started with an M did it, "like Marty or Martin or something like that." RP 430.

Dr. Stephen Anderson saw S.W.-H. at the hospital. RP 637. Inconsistent with her trial testimony, S.W.-H. told Anderson "she awoke this morning to find an acquaintance of her roommate in her room." RP 654. She said the man repeatedly hit her face, head, and chest, and penetrated her orally, vaginally, and anally. RP 640. Anderson observed bruising on S.W.-H.'s face, around her ear, as well as her breast and back. RP 640. She did

not have any broken bones. RP 645. Nor was there any bleeding in her vaginal or anal area. RP 657.

Detective Sergeant Jon Shipman was the first to arrive at the hospital. RP 262-64. Shipman testified S.W.-H. told him an acquaintance of her roommate came over unexpectedly the night before to buy marijuana. RP 268. S.W.-H. claimed she knew the acquaintance's name was Derrick, but did not know his last name. RP 268. She also said she knew he lived in a nearby trailer park, Circle K Mobile, but did not know any other details. RP 269. She described him as a white male around 5'9" or 5'10" tall, medium build, black or brown hair, no facial hair, wearing a hooded sweatshirt, black jeans or sweatpants, and a black beanie. RP 277, 320.

S.W.-H. then told Shipman details of the incident. RP 269-76. She said she scratched the man's cheek as she tried to fight him off. RP 277-79. S.W.-H. also said she was wearing gray sweatpants and a white shirt during the incident, which she threw in the bathtub afterwards because there was blood on them. RP 278-79.

Detective Eric Moore examined the trailer with Detective Sergeant Tim Lontz around 9:00 p.m. on February 8. RP 466-73, 532-33. They found several wet clothing items in the bathtub, which they collected. RP 482-83, 497-500. Moore noted one of these items was a gray long sleeve shirt with red substance around the collar. RP 497-99. Moore also took

several swab samples from items around the trailer, as well as the kitchen table and carpet, and sent them to the crime lab for testing. RP 485-510.

Powell gave the officers Kolanowski's number, from which they learned Kolanowski lived in a nearby mobile home park. RP 315-17, 929-31. They went to his home around 12:30 a.m. on February 9. RP 934. Kolanowski's mother and stepfather answered the door and said Kolanowski was staying in Tacoma with his cousin. RP 934-37.

Kelly Morris performed a sexual assault exam on S.W.-H. on February 10, approximately 61 hours after the alleged rape. RP 323-27, 367. Sexual assault exams can be performed up to 120 hours after the event before evidence deteriorates. RP 376. S.W.-H. had not washed her genitals or taken a shower since the incident. RP 344-45. Morris collected oral, perianal, anal, vulvar perineal, and vaginal swabs. RP 356. All the swabs were negative for semen. RP 727. Of the perianal and perineal swabs, one showed no male DNA and the other showed a "very, very low quantity of male DNA." RP 728. Given the low quantity, no DNA profile could be obtained. RP 728, 1135-37.

On February 10, police showed S.W.-H. a photomontage of six different people. RP 436-37. S.W.-H. thought three of the people, one of whom was Kolanowski, "kind of look[ed]" like the suspect. RP 443-48.

The same day, Detective Matthew Lorette and the other officers arrested Kolanowski at his workplace. RP 1006-09. Lorette took several photos of Kolanowski at the police station, showing a mark on Kolanowski's left cheek, some redness on his upper body and knees, marks on his forearms, and an abrasion on his right index finger. RP 1017-23. Kolanowski was wearing a black hooded sweatshirt, which Lorette collected and sent to the crime lab for testing. RP 1024-27. Lorette also testified he found a handwritten note in Kolanowski's wallet, which included Powell's phone numbers and "Shorty for my stuff." RP 1031-33.

Megan Inslee conducted DNA testing of the items collected from the trailer, as well as Kolanowski's sweatshirt. RP 661. She did not detect semen on any of the clothing. RP 714-16. The left sleeve cuff of Kolanowski's sweatshirt tested positive for blood. RP 698-700. S.W.-H. was excluded as a possible contributor. RP 700. Inslee testified, however, "The DNA typing profiles that I obtained from the sweatshirt, there were three separate DNA profiles and they were all mixtures. The major component of each of the mixtures matched the reference sample that I just referred to that was submitted from the suspect." RP 700.

The interior front neckline of a gray sweatshirt from S.W.-H.'s trailer tested positive for S.W.-H.'s blood. RP 707-09. The estimated probability of another person in the United States population having the same DNA was

one in 24 quadrillion. RP 709. Inslee also found a trace component of male DNA. RP 710-11. She sent this sample to another lab for YSTR testing, which isolates and amplifies the male Y-chromosome when there is a large amount of female DNA also present. RP 710-11.

Brad Dixon performed the YSTR testing and concluded the YSTR profile matched Kolanowski. RP 1140. This meant neither Kolanowski nor any of his paternal male relatives could be excluded as a donor of the male DNA on the gray sweatshirt. RP 1140-41. Dixon explained only 25 cells were recovered for YSTR testing. RP 1150-58. Ten cells is the absolute minimum needed to obtain a possible DNA profile. RP 1161. Dixon was not able to determine whether they were skin, saliva, semen, or blood cells. RP 1156. Dixon testified the particular YSTR profile was not expected to occur more frequently than one in 8600 male individuals in the U.S. population. RP 1142.

Lorette also interpreted several February 8 phone records at trial. He testified Powell received a 24-second call from Kolanowski's home number at 12:39 a.m. RP 988. A defense expert testified this call likely went to voicemail. RP 1358-60. The records showed S.W.-H. placed a 105-second call to Kolanowski's number at 12:41 a.m., thought S.W.-H. never testified she called Kolanowski. RP 996-97. S.W.-H. called Powell at 12:44 a.m. and the call lasted for 59 seconds. RP 996-97. S.W.-H. placed another 51-

second call to Powell at 12:45 a.m. RP 991. S.W.-H. called Barnacascel at 1:20 a.m. and they talked for 57 seconds, even though both testified they did not speak again that night after Barnacascel left S.W.-H.'s trailer. RP 391, 841-42, 998-99. S.W.-H. did not initiate any text messages after 1:24 a.m. and all the calls she received between 1:33 a.m. and 11:43 a.m. went to voicemail. RP 1005-06.

2. Defense Case

Kolanowski lives with mother, Lorena Calvery, and stepfather, Michael Calvery. RP 1212, 1232-33. Kolanowski worked for a company called Lock Right, doing manufacturing, warehousing, and spot welding. RP 578. Kolanowski's employer acknowledged injuries are common in manufacturing. RP 574-80.

The defense was identity. Michael testified that on the night of February 7, his wife went to bed around 9:30 p.m. and he stayed up watching television. RP 1233-35. Later that evening, Kolanowski knocked on the door with Mills. RP 1233-35. Michael testified they were loud and Kolanowski was "very intoxicated." RP 1239. Kolanowski was so drunk that Michael and Mills had to help him into bed. RP 1240-41. Michael saw Kolanowski the next morning around 7:00 a.m., when Kolanowski left to stay with his cousin for the weekend. RP 1244-46, 1260, 1287.

Lorena testified she got up to use the restroom in the early morning hours on February 8 and noticed Kolanowski's bedroom door was open. RP 1217-18. She went to close his door and saw him in bed asleep. RP 1218. Lorena took Kolanowski's glasses off and covered him up with a blanket. RP 1218. Lorena explained Kolanowski has worn glasses for a couple of years and does not have contacts. RP 1218. She noticed Kolanowski "smelled strongly of alcohol and cinnamon." RP 1219. He opened his eyes slightly and "they were very, very bloodshot." RP 1219. Lorena explained she cleaned Kolanowski's room the next morning because he had thrown up in a trash can. RP 1221.

Kolanowski's cousin, Charles Frye, picked him up on the morning of February 8 to stay in Tacoma for the weekend. RP 1283-87. Frye explained that when he arrived, Kolanowski was in a towel, and Frye did not see any scratches on his legs. RP 1288-90. Nor did Frye notice any other injuries on Kolanowski that weekend. RP 1288-90.

The defense also emphasized the numerous inconsistencies in S.W.-H.'s description of the suspect. For instance, S.W.-H. testified the man was not wearing glasses, but the witnesses who knew Kolanowski testified he always wore glasses. RP 195-99, 814, 1217-18. Kolanowski is

¹ Lorena testified she got out of bed at 1:30 a.m. RP 1217-18. In an interview with the State, she said 3:00 a.m. RP 1230. Either way, she was "[a]bsolutely" sure she saw Kolanowski in bed after midnight on February 8. RP 1230-31.

circumcised, but S.W.-H. said in a defense interview the man was uncircumcised. RP 821-23, 1213. Kolanowski also has several prominent tattoos, including a "D" above his left nipple, a large 8 ball on his left shoulder, and large stars on both sides of his abdomen. RP 1085-87; Exs. 205-12. S.W.-H. did not recall seeing any tattoos on the man, even though the lights were on and his shirt was off. RP 821-23, 869, 1053-54.

S.W.-H. also told police and testified the man did not have any facial hair. RP 277, 320, 801-02, 1053-54. When Kolanowski was arrested on February 10, he had a mustache and beard. Exs. 4-5. S.W.-H.'s description of the man's hair color varied wildly, from black to brown to "really light." RP 320, 823-27, 1053-54. S.W.-H. also said she did not smell any alcohol on the man, though several witnesses testified Kolanowski was drinking pungent cinnamon whiskey that night. RP 199-200, 846, 1219-20.

At trial, S.W.-H. was asked if she could identify the man in the courtroom. RP 801. She said she "[v]aguely recognized" Kolanowski, explaining, "I'm not sure. He didn't look like that when he came to my house. He looks different." RP 801. On cross, S.W.-H. admitted, "I don't recall what he looked like back then." RP 826. Detective Lorette acknowledged S.W.-H. never told him Kolanowski's name, only Powell did, who never actually saw the man at the trailer on February 8. RP 1051.

Another key aspect of the defense case was a Facebook post S.W.-H. made at 2:49 a.m. on February 8, a time when she claimed she did not have access to her phone. RP 107-13. Pursuant to the State's motion, the trial court excluded the Facebook post because defense counsel presented no evidence authenticating or laying foundation for the timestamp. RP 114-18. The court asked, "does [the timestamp] correspond to when it gets downloaded to the server? Does it correspond to when it hits the Facebook server in California? Does it correspond to exactly when you type it in?" RP 114-15. The court explained the defense needed a witness to establish "this timestamp has some meaning and here is what the meaning is." RP 117. Without such information, the court concluded, the jury would be left to speculate. RP 114-15. The court emphasized, however, "Let's work on getting you the witness that you need from Facebook." RP 119.

The parties continued to discuss the admissibility of the Facebook post throughout trial. Defense counsel thought he needed a Facebook custodian of records to authenticate the post. RP 109-14. But on the first day of trial, May 6, 2015, the trial court ruled the Facebook post itself was authenticated because the Facebook account belonged to S.W.-H. and the defense investigator could testify to taking the screenshot. RP 159. As for authenticating the timestamp, the court told defense counsel, "Really all that I am looking for in order to address the issue of authentication or

relevance... is a witness who says, 'This is how the posting date time works, generally." RP 298.

On May 12, the court reiterated the authenticating witness only needed to have "some expertise in using Facebook and posting things to Facebook, and seeing how that post relates to the timing of it." RP 621. The court thought one of the detectives might be able to testify to that. RP 622. The court also noted there was a Facebook office in Seattle, but defense counsel admitted he had not subpoenaed anyone. RP 623.

During cross-examination, defense counsel asked S.W.-H. if she accessed her Facebook account at all during the incident. RP 857. She said no. RP 857. Cross-examination ended there. RP 857. The court excused S.W.-H. at the end of her testimony. RP 869. Defense counsel did not ask for her to remain in attendance. RP 869. The State rested its case on May 20. RP 1163. The defense rested on May 26. RP 1370. The defense did not put on a witness to authenticate the Facebook timestamp, so the post was never admitted.

The jury found Kolanowski guilty as charged. CP 34-35. The trial court determined Kolanowski had an offender score of zero, because the current offenses constituted same criminal conduct. CP 65; RP 1462. The court sentenced Kolanowski to 90 months on the rape and three months on

the unlawful imprisonment, to run concurrently. CP 68. Kolanowski filed a timely notice of appeal. CP 77.

C. ARGUMENT

1. KOLANOWSKI WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE OF ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BECAUSE HIS ATTORNEY FAILED TO AUTHENTICATE EXTRINSIC IMPEACHMENT EVIDENCE.

Defense counsel wanted to impeach S.W.-H.'s credibility with a Facebook post that directly contradicted her testimony. However, he inexplicably failed to obtain a witness who could authenticate the Facebook timestamp, even though the trial court gave him multiple opportunities to do so. This amounted to ineffective assistance of counsel because it was entirely to Kolanowski's detriment. Reversal is required.

Every accused person enjoys the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Wash. Const. art. 1, § 22; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685-86, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 229, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). That right is violated when (1) the attorney's performance was deficient and (2) the deficiency prejudiced the accused. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687; Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 225-26.

Counsel's performance is deficient when it falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 226. If counsel's

conduct demonstrates a legitimate trial strategy or tactic, it cannot serve as a basis for an ineffective assistance claim. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 689; <u>State v. Yarbrough</u>, 151 Wn. App. 66, 90, 210 P.3d 1029 (2009).

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