NO. 73703-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DERRICK KOLANOWSKI,

Appellant.

FILED
Jul 14, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE ROGER ROGOFF

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG
King County Prosecuting Attorney

IAN ITH
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney
W554 King County Courthouse
516 3rd Avenue
Seattle, Washington 98104
(206) 477-9497

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

C. ARGUMENT

1. KOLANOWSKI CANNOT SHOW INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Kolanowski claims that his defense attorney was prejudicially deficient because (1) he failed to authenticate a printout of a Facebook page that is not in the trial record and was only vaguely described by the parties; and (2) he failed to object to DNA evidence that proved that Kolanowski's own blood — not the victim's — was on his own shirt. He fails to meet his burden of showing deficiency and prejudice because (1) there is not nearly enough evidence in the record below to evaluate the defense attorney's performance regarding the Facebook page or its possible evidentiary value; and (2) no competent defense attorney would try to suppress proof that blood on Kolanowski's shirt was his own.

Our courts apply the Strickland v. Washington² test to determine whether counsel was ineffective. In re Pers. Restraint of Mockovak, 69390-5-I, 2016 WL 3190500, at *4 (Wash. Ct. App. June 6, 2016). To prevail, Kolanowski must show both deficient performance and resulting prejudice. Id. To establish deficient performance, he bears the burden of showing that trial counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.

² 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984).

Id. In assessing counsel's performance, this Court "must make every effort to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight and *must strongly presume* that counsel's conduct constituted sound trial strategy." Id. (quoting In re Pers. Restraint of Rice, 118 Wn.2d 876, 888-89, 828 P.2d 1086 (1992) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689)). "When counsel's conduct can be characterized as legitimate trial strategy or tactics, performance is not deficient." State v. Kylo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 863, 215 P.3d 177 (2009).

Competency of counsel is determined based upon the entire record below. State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). It is Kolanowski's burden to "show in the record the absence of legitimate strategic or tactical reasons" for counsel's alleged omission. Id. Where, as here, the claim is brought on direct appeal, the reviewing court will not consider matters outside the trial record. Id. If a defendant wishes to raise issues that require evidence or facts not in the existing trial record, the appropriate means of doing so is through a personal restraint petition, which may be filed concurrently with the direct appeal. Id. Because Kolanowski did not file a personal restraint petition, the issue must be decided based on the trial records identified on appeal. Id.

a. Kolanowski Cannot Show Deficient Performance Or Prejudice From A Facebook Printout That Is Not In The Trial Record.

Simply put, Kolanowski fails in his burden of showing deficient performance and prejudice related to the alleged Facebook-page printout because there is hardly any information in the trial record with which to evaluate the proposed evidence or the attorney's performance.

i. Relevant facts.

Pretrial, Kolanowski said he intended to offer a printout of a page from the website Facebook that purportedly indicated that W. H. might have posted something to one of her accounts at 2:49 a.m. on February 8, 2014, "while the assault is allegedly taking place." 1RP 108. Kolanowski's defense investigator had apparently looked up the Facebook page roughly a year after the rape, around March 2015 when the defense shared it with the State. 1RP 108-11. The State objected to its admission because Kolanowski did not have a witness to establish that the purported time marker on the page had any bearing on when W.-H. might actually have posted something to Facebook. Id.

The trial court agreed that Kolanowski could not establish that "this post is what it purports to be, which is a post that occurred

on a particular day.” 1RP 114. “Does it correspond to when it hits the Facebook server in California?” the court wondered. “Does it correspond to exactly when you type it in? Nobody knows.” 1RP 115. The court said that “without some witness to say, ‘Here is what the time stamp means,’” then the Facebook page was irrelevant, confusing and more prejudicial than probative. 1RP 118. Still, the court ordered the prosecution to try to contact Facebook to find a witness for Kolanowski’s defense. 1RP 119; 2RP 160-61; 3RP 295-96, 300-01.

As the trial progressed, the State indicated that despite enlisting a trained detective with law-enforcement authority, it was not having any luck authenticating the time stamp, even with the trial court offering to sign a court order for the information. 3RP 296-302; 4RP 620-22. The trial court clarified to Kolanowski that authentication could be as simple as presenting a witness who was familiar with using Facebook to testify that a time stamp generally corresponds to the time you “hit enter and post something.” 3RP 298; 6RP 621.

When cross-examining W.-H., Kolanowski’s lawyer asked her if she had accessed a Facebook account in the morning of the rape, and she said, “No.” 6RP 857. Finally, midway through the

defense case, Kolanowski's lawyer told the trial court he was going to consult with his investigator about her knowledge of Facebook.

4RP 622-24. The trial court pointedly replied:

All right, well let me -- I just want to put one other thing on the record with regard to the Facebook post, and that is even if there was a witness who could lay a foundation as to the Facebook posts, I find that the fact that the witness may have posted to Facebook at some point, either just before, during or after the assault, [would] have very little impact on the question in this case, which is whether it was Mr. Kolanowski who assaulted her in a particular way, or whether it was somebody else who assaulted her in a slightly different way, or part of one and part of the other. That it may have some effect on her credibility, but that would be about it. And so I want to make that clear in case there is any kind of argument about whether that witness should have been here or should have been ready to go at the time that this trial started.

8RP 1266.

Kolanowski's lawyer did not revisit the issue.

- ii. The record is inadequate to show deficiency or prejudice.

First, it is impossible from the record below to conclude that Kolanowski's lawyer fell below an objective standard of reasonableness because there is no evidence here to show what steps he actually did or did not take to investigate the Facebook page. Kolanowski's entire argument relies on the supposition that his lawyer was merely befuddled and did nothing. On the contrary,

the record shows that counsel actively sought information about Facebook, but not even the State with its law-enforcement power could get answers from Facebook. Nonetheless, Kolanowski's lawyer said he would talk to his investigator about Facebook, but we have no idea what he learned, if anything. Perhaps he found out that Facebook time indicators have no real factual correlation to anything. Perhaps he realized that, as the judge pointed out, it was of minimal value to the defense and not really worth the effort. There is no way to know from this record.

More importantly, the printout of the Facebook page is not in the trial record to evaluate. This is the sum total of what the record says about this proposed exhibit: It was a printout of one of W.-H.'s Facebook pages as it appeared online about a year after the rape. 1RP 108-11; 3RP 294. The printout depicted a photo, posted by someone else, of a football player in a tutu. 1RP 108. A date and time of February 8 at 2:49 a.m. purportedly appeared somewhere on the page. 3RP 295.

It is impossible from this record to say that the Facebook page would have had any impact on Kolanowski's trial whatsoever. This Court does not have the printout to see what Kolanowski was offering, and Kolanowski may not supplement the record. This

Court has no information about the relationship between the supposed time stamp and an image of a football player in a tutu. But what *is* in the record is the trial court's express finding that this item would have been of little benefit, if any, to Kolanowski's defense.

Moreover, Kolanowski's entire argument depends on a wholly unsupported assumption that a time and date on a Facebook page would have proven something. There is no evidence in this record to show that Facebook time indicators have any correlation to anything. Even if the printout were in the record, Kolanowski cannot show deficient performance or prejudice because there is no evidence that it was actually possible to establish the relevance of the printout, no matter how hard his lawyer tried.

Kolanowski suggests that all his lawyer had to do was walk into Facebook's Seattle office with a subpoena in his hand and he would have proven W.-H. a liar. But with virtually no useful evidence or information in the record below, Kolanowski's effort to show ineffective assistance of counsel with regard to the Facebook printout fails.

b. Kolanowski Cannot Show Deficient Performance Or Prejudice From Failing To Challenge DNA Evidence That Helped His Defense.

Kolanowski next contends his lawyer was ineffective because he did not try to prevent a DNA scientist from testifying that the DNA found on Kolanowski's bloody sweatshirt matched Kolanowski's DNA. This argument fails because no reasonable defense attorney would have done that.

i. Relevant facts.

W.-H. reported that her attacker was wearing a hooded sweatshirt. 2RP 277; 6RP 788. When police arrested Kolanowski at his workplace, two days after he raped W.-H., he was wearing a black, hooded sweatshirt. 7RP 1024; Ex. 167. Megan Inslee, a forensic scientist for the Washington State Patrol Crime Lab, testified that she found blood on the sweatshirt, and the "major component" matched Kolanowski's DNA, while no DNA matching W.-H. was found on the sweatshirt. 5RP 698-700. In cross-examining Inslee, Kolanowski's attorney emphasized this point. 5RP 736-37.

Kolanowski did not testify, but he mounted an alibi defense. 8RP 1164-1267; 9RP 1273-83. For example, his mother claimed

she had checked on him in the middle of the night and found him sleeping in bed.³ 8RP 1218. Kolanowski's defense included the contention that he was injured at work. 8RP 1220; 9RP 1287-90. In closing, Kolanowski argued that holes in the sweatshirt were burn holes from welding sparks and splattering molten metal, and his injuries looked more like workplace injuries than scratches. 10RP 1425.

- ii. Kolanowski's attorney acted with sound strategy.

Kolanowski makes a lengthy argument about the impropriety of the forensic scientist's "match" testimony. It is beside the point. Even if Kolanowski's lawyer could have prevented Inslee from testifying that the DNA on Kolanowski's sweatshirt matched Kolanowski's DNA, he would have been foolish to do so.

Had Kolanowski objected and succeeded in suppressing the evidence of a DNA "match," the jury would have been left with mysterious blood on Kolanowski's sweatshirt. So any rational defense attorney would be eager to point out that the blood on his sweatshirt matched only him, and not the victim or anyone else, making the sweatshirt much less incriminating. This is even more

³ Kolanowski's mother testified that she looked at her alarm clock and saw it was 1:30 a.m. However, under cross examination, Kolanowski's mother admitted that she previously had claimed her clock said 3 a.m. 8RP 1218, 1230.

true here because having his own blood on his own sweatshirt at work fit the defense theory that he was injured at work. Kolanowski cannot meet his burden of showing that his attorney did not have legitimate strategic or tactical reasons for not objecting to that evidence.

Nonetheless, Kolanowski argues that the DNA match on the sweatshirt was “damning” because it “suggested he changed his clothes before going to [W.-H.’s] trailer.” Brief of Appellant (BOA) at 38. That hardly was the implication. The implication was that Kolanowski bled after W.-H. injured him in her futile attempt at self-defense. So what would have happened if Kolanowski had suppressed the fact that the blood on his own shirt was indisputably his own? That still leaves him wearing a bloody sweatshirt that matched W.-H.’s description of the rapist’s clothes. The jury would have that incriminating evidence, plus the implication that he had someone else’s blood on his shirt. Kolanowski then would have had to argue that the blood must have been his, to fit his defense. No reasonable defense attorney in this case would try to hide the DNA match from the jury, because doing so would have helped convict Kolanowski.

Certainly then, suppressing this evidence of a DNA match would not have changed the outcome of the trial. The actually damning DNA evidence in this case was Kolanowski's DNA on the neckline of the shirt that W.-H. was wearing when she was raped in her trailer — and that was unquestioningly presented properly as a “match.” Combining this with Kolanowski's injuries, the note in his pocket, and the victim identifying him as her rapist in court, there is no way Kolanowski can show any prejudice from evidence that his own blood was on his own shirt.

Kolanowski can show no deficiency in his lawyer's performance. He cannot show any prejudice from this evidence because it benefitted his defense. Kolanowski's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel fails.

2. THIS COURT SHOULD PRESERVE THE STATE'S OPPORTUNITY TO SUBMIT A COST BILL.

This Court should not foreclose the State's option to seek appellate costs in this case, should it prevail, because the record is too limited to make such a determination at this stage. As in most cases, the appellant's ability to pay was not litigated in the trial court because it was not relevant to the issues at trial. As such, the record does not contain information about the appellant's financial

status — except for testimony that the appellant was gainfully employed at the time of the crime — and the State did not have the right to obtain information about the appellant’s financial situation.

An order authorizing appointment of appellate counsel addresses only an appellant’s present financial circumstances and ability to pay appellate costs up front. It does not address future ability to pay or ability to pay over time. It is the future ability to pay, instead of simply the current ability, that is most relevant in determining whether the imposition of financial obligations is appropriate. See State v. Blank, 131 Wn.2d 230, 241, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997) (indigence is a constitutional bar to the collection of monetary assessments only if the defendant is unable to pay at the time the government seeks to enforce collection of the assessments). See also State v. Shelton, 72848-2-I, 2016 WL 3461164, at *7 (Wash. Ct. App. June 20, 2016) (challenge to DNA fee not constitutional until State seeks to collect, and appellant has not shown future inability to pay); State v. Stoddard, 192 Wn. App. 222, 228-229, 366 P.3d 474 (2016) (constitutional challenges to DNA fee fail because they “assume his poverty” while “the record contains no information, other than Stoddard’s statutory indigence for purposes of hiring an attorney,” that he will not be able to pay).


D. CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks this Court to affirm Kolanowski's judgment and sentence.